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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All
statements, other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our
strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are
forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,”
“potential,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements,

although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

” < 2 2 2 ”

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and our actual results could differ materially from the results
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, our ability to raise additional capital to support our biodefense program, our manufacturing
operations and other operations, our ability to develop products of commercial value and to identify, discover and obtain rights to additional
potential product candidates, the outcome of research and development activities, our reliance on third-parties, the timing of completion of
construction of the planned manufacturing facility in Kansas, our ability to successfully operate a manufacturing facility, competitive
developments, the effect of current and future legislation and regulation and regulatory actions, as well as other risks described more fully
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Readers are
cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are
difficult to predict, including those identified below, under Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and elsewhere herein and those identified under
Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on March 31, 2023 (the
“2022 Annual Report”). Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason.

As a result of these and other factors, we may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking
statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the
potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make. We do not assume any
obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required
by law.

NOTE REGARDING COMPANY REFERENCES

”

Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, “NightHawk,” “NightHawk Biosciences,” “the Company,” “we” and “our” refer to

NightHawk Biosciences, Inc.
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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
(unaudited)
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,042,741 $ 3,191,714
Short-term investments 4,167,755 35,837,309
Accounts receivable 313,906 81,456
Grant receivable — 1,524,522
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,261,228 1,491,123
Current assets held for sale 16,394,533 7,928,136
Total Current Assets 24,180,163 50,054,260
Property and Equipment, net 18,683,898 20,438,521
Operating lease right-of-use asset 5,346,910 5,860,261
Finance lease right-of-use asset 20,979,923 15,329,075
Other assets 453,135 260,011
Deposits 271,115 270,461
Non-current assets held for sale — 12,178,323
Total Assets $ 69,915,144 $ 104,396,912
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,873,696 $ 4,213,732
Deferred revenue, current portion 4,056,646 1,585,808
Operating lease liability, current portion 404,566 397,855
Finance lease liability, current portion 895,625 301,048
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,031,618 1,916,601
Current liabilities held for sale 14,225,696 9,622,279
Total Current Liabilities 24,487,847 18,037,323
Long Term Liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 32,500 32,500
Operating lease liability, net of current portion 2,825,536 3,079,887
Financing lease liability, net of current portion 9,122,617 5,520,034
Non-current liabilities held for sale — 5,290,500
Total Liabilities 36,468,500 31,960,244
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14 and Note 15)
Stockholders' Equity
Common stock, $0.0002 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized, 26,081,890 and 25,661,488 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 5,217 5,126
Additional paid-in capital 285,090,202 283,019,456
Accumulated deficit (248,962,791) (209,153,659)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 159,929 51,924
Total Stockholders' Equity - NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. 36,292,557 73,922,847
Non-Controlling Interest (2,845,913) (1,486,179)
Total Stockholders' Equity 33,446,644 72,436,668
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 69,915,144 $ 104,396,912

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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INIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue $ 723,126 $ 58,861 § 2,146,804 290,259
Operating expenses:

Cost of revenues 545,023 — 1,540,454

Research and development 5,155,359 5,379,780 16,600,186 13,334,021

Selling, general and administrative 6,082,539 4,838,169 19,603,075 13,299,474

In-process research and development impairment — 3,500,000 — 3,500,000

Change in fair value of contingent consideration (3,118,515) — (3,342,515)

Total operating expenses 11,782,921 10,599,434 37,743,715 26,790,980

Operating loss (11,059,795) (10,540,573) (35,596,911) (26,500,721)

Change in fair value of warrant liability 1,456 — 10,746

Other (expense) income, net (110,352) 74,913 (329,103) 234,517

Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (36,116) (145,558) 99,437 (1,577,174)

Total non-operating loss (146,468) (69,189) (229,666) (1,331,911)

Net loss before income taxes from continuing operations (11,206,263) (10,609,762) (35,826,577) (27,832,632)
Income tax (expense) benefit (37,063) 571,120 3,288,937
Net loss from continuing operations before income taxes (11,206,263) (10,646,825) (35,255,457) (24,543,695)
Net loss from discontinued operations before income taxes (3,040,577) (2,700,946) (5,848,220) (3,931,784)
Income tax expense from discontinued operations (65,189) — (65,189)
Net Loss (14,312,029) (13,347,771) (41,168,866) (28,475,479)
Net loss - non-controlling interest (1,179,559) (89,421) (1,359,734) (265,256)
Net loss attributable to NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. (13,132,470) (13,258,350) (39,809,132) (28,210,223)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted - continuing operations $ 0.38) $ 0.41) $ (1.30) $ (0.95)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted - discontinued operations (0.12) 0.11) (0.23) (0.15)
Net loss per common share attributable to NightHawk
Biosciences, Inc., basic and diluted $ (0.50) $ 0.52) $§ (1.53) § (1.10)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and
diluted 26,050,562 25,613,316 26,022,244 25,603,481
Comprehensive loss from continuing operations:

Net loss $ (14312,029) $ (13,347,771) $ (41,168,866) $ (28,475,479)

Unrealized gain on foreign currency translation 54,967 115,659 108,005 210,245
Total comprehensive loss (14,257,062) (13,232,112) (41,060,861) (28,265,234)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest (1,179,559) (89,421) (1,359,734) (265,256)
Comprehensive loss - NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. $ (13,077,503) $ (13,142,691) $ (39,701,127) $ (27,999,978)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance at June 30, 2023

Issuance of common stock - ESPP
Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2023

Balance at December 31, 2022

Issuance of common stock from vesting of
restricted stock awards

Issuance of common stock - ESPP
Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2023

NIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2023
Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

Stock APIC Deficit Income Interest Equity
$ 5210 $ 284453899 § (235830321) $ 104,962 $ (1,666,354)  $ 47,067,396
7 7) — — — —
— 636,310 — — — 636,310
— — — 54,967 — 54,967
— — (13,132,470) — (1,179,559) (14,312,029)
$ 5217 $ 285,090,202 $ (248,962,791) $ 159,929 § (2,845913) $ 33,446,644

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

Stock APIC Deficit Income Interest Equity
$ 5126 $ 283,019456 $ (209,153,659) $ 51,924 $ (1,486,179) ' $ 72,436,668
79 (79) — — — —
12 (12) — — — —
— 2,070,837 — — — 2,070,837
= = = 108,005 = 108,005
— — (39,809,132) — (1,359,734) (41,168,866)
$ 5217 $ 285,090,202 $ (248,962,791) $ 159,929 § (2,845913) § 33,446,644

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance at June 30, 2022

Issuance of common stock - ESPP
Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2021

Issuance of common stock from vesting of
restricted stock awards

Issuance of common stock - ESPP
Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2022

NIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Accumulated
Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'
Stock APIC Deficit (Loss) Income Interest Equity
$ 5120 $ 280,603,302 $ (180,670,826) $ 26,645 $ (1,250,578) $ 98,713,663
2 2) — — — —
— 717,175 — — — 717,175
— — — 115,659 — 115,659
— — (13,258,350) — (89,421) (13,347,771)
$ 5122 § 281,320475 $§ (193,929,176) $ 142,304 § (1,339,999) $ 86,198,726
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022
Accumulated
Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'
Stock APIC Deficit Income Interest Equity
$ 5055 § 278,890,153 $ (165,718,953) $ (67,941) $ (1,074,743) $ 112,033,571
65 (65) — — — —
2 (2) — — — —
— 2,430,389 — — — 2,430,389
— — — 210,245 — 210,245
— — (28,210,223) — (265,256) (28,475,479)
$ 5122 $ 281,320475 $ (193,929,176) $ 142,304 (1,339,999) $ 86,198,726

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Goodwill impairment loss
Intangible asset impairment loss
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of intangible asset
Noncash lease expense
Stock-based compensation
Change in fair value of common stock warrants
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Deferred tax liability
Payment of contingent consideration

Increase (decrease) in cash arising from changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Grant receivable
Contract receivables
Inventory
Income tax receivable
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax liability
Deposits
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of short-term investments
Sale of short-term investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Disposal of property and equipment
Acquisition of Elusys Therapeutics, net of cash paid
Payment of contingent consideration
Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayments of principal under finance lease
Net Cash Used In Financing Activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents — Beginning of the Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents — End of the Period

Supplemental Disclosure for Cash Flow Information:
Right-of-use assets obtained upon operating lease commencements
Right-of-use assets obtained upon financing lease commencements
Right-of-use assets surrendered upon financing lease modifications
Right-of-use assets obtained upon operating lease modifications

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable
Contingent and deferred cash consideration related to Elusys acquisition

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2023 and 2022

Cash and cash equivalents included in current assets held for sale

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022

$  (41,168,866) $§  (28,475479)
3,873,079 —
2,277,921 3,500,000
4,668,589 988,715
1,091,250 666,875
318,073 127,681
2,070,837 2,430,389

— (10,746)

(177,354) (3,342,515)
(99,437) 1,577,174
(571,120) (3,073,000)
(100,344) —
(7,022,657) (5,843,564)
(193,124) 12,493,539
2,330,808 1,210,730
1,524,522 (206,163)

— 24,526,231

— 5,844,000

600,877 443,968
57,103 (9,974,366)
— (215,937)
25,596 (33,064)
(749,600) 2,354,279
2,470,838 718,850
(1,681,915) (3,512,090)
— (53,530)

(30,454,924) 2,141,977
(439,779) (1,989,767)
32,208,771 44,947,779
(1,852,665) (19,271,087)
220,802 —

— 2,719,898
— (22,784,571)

30,137,129 3,622,252
(2,751,037) (145,672)
(2,751,037) (145,672)
(3,188) (14,194)
(3,072,020) 5,604,363
8,434,554 8,053,879

$ 5,362,534 $ 13,658,242
$ — $ 351,098
$ 9,983,504 $ 16,470,969
$ (3,092,408) § —
$ 87,839 $ —
$ = $ 1,233,232
$ — $ 42,853,685
$ 3,319,793 $ 5,242,840
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1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

Effective May 3, 2022, Heat Biologics, Inc. changed its name to NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company” or “NightHawk”) by filing a
Certificate of Amendment (the “Certificate of Amendment”) to its Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial reporting. Certain information or footnote disclosures normally included in
the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed, or omitted, pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In the opinion of the Company’s management, these financial
statements include all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of the results for the interim periods presented. The
results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any
other interim period or for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023.

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are unaudited. The
balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements as of that date. These financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on March 31, 2023 (the “2022 Annual Report™).

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
include the accounts of NightHawk Biosciences, Inc., and its subsidiaries (“the Company”), Pelican Therapeutics, Inc. (“Pelican”), Heat
Biologics I, Inc. (“Heat 1”), Heat Biologics III, Inc. (“Heat III”’), Heat Biologics IV, Inc. (“Heat IV”), Heat Biologics GmbH, Heat
Biologics Australia Pty Ltd., Zolovax, Inc., Skunkworx Bio, Inc. (formerly known as Delphi Therapeutics, Inc.), Scorpius
BioManufacturing, Inc. (“Scorpius™) (formerly Scorpion Biological Services, Inc), Blackhawk Bio, Inc., Abacus Biotech, Inc., and Elusys
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Elusys”). The functional currency of the entities located outside the United States of America (the foreign entities) is
the applicable local currency of the foreign entities. Assets and liabilities of the foreign entities are translated at period-end exchange rates.
Statement of operations accounts are translated at the average exchange rate during the period. The effects of foreign currency translation
adjustments are included in other comprehensive loss, which is a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’
equity. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. At September 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, NightHawk held an 85% controlling interest in Pelican and a94% controlling interest in Scorpius. NightHawk
accounts for its less than 100% interest in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, the Company presents non-controlling interest as a
component of stockholders’ equity on its consolidated balance sheets and reports non-controlling interest net loss under the heading “net
loss — non-controlling interest” on its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

In September 2023, the Company commenced the active marketing for the sale of Elusys Therapeutics, Inc. The divestiture has not been
consummated as of September 30, 2023 however, the Company has reflected Elusys Therapeutics, Inc. as a discontinued operation in the
consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. See Note 2 for further discussion.

Unless otherwise noted, amounts and disclosure throughout the Notes to the consolidated financial statements are related to the Company’s
continuing operations.

Going Concern Uncertainty

The Company has an accumulated deficit of approximately $249.0 million as of September 30, 2023 and a net loss before income taxes
from continuing operations of approximately $35.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and has not generated significant
revenue or positive cash flows from operations. The Company expects to incur significant expenses and continued losses from operations
for the foreseeable future. The Company expects its expenses to increase in connection with its ongoing activities, particularly as the
Company ramps up operations in its in-house bioanalytic,
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process development and manufacturing facility in San Antonio, TX, which is now its main focus. In addition, any new business ventures
that the Company may engage in are likely to require commitments of capital. Accordingly, the Company will need to obtain substantial
additional funding in connection with its planned operations. Adequate additional financing may not be available to the Company on
acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company is unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, it would be forced to delay, reduce
or eliminate its programs, any future commercialization efforts or the manufacturing services it plans to provide. To meet its capital needs,
the Company intends to continue to consider multiple alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings such as sales of
its common stock under at-the-market offerings, debt financings, partnerships, grants, funding collaborations and other funding
transactions, if any are available. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had approximately $6.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments, which it believes is sufficient to fund its operations into the first quarter of 2024. The Company will need to
generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and it may never do so. As a result of these circumstances, management has
determined that there is substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated
interim financial statements are issued.

Risk and Uncertainties

The Company’s future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect the Company’s future
operating results and cause actual results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited to, uncertainty of regulatory
approval of the Company’s drug candidates or its manufacturing facility, the timing of completion of construction of the planned
manufacturing facility in Kansas, uncertainty of market acceptance of the Company’s products or manufacturing capability or success of
new business ventures, competition from substitute products and larger companies, government budget and spending on biological threat
programs, securing and protecting proprietary technology, strategic relationships and dependence on key individuals and sole source
suppliers. New risks and uncertainties may develop and it is not possible for us to predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the effect
of all such risk factors on our business.

The Company depends on third-party suppliers for key materials and services used in its manufacturing processes, and is subject to certain
risks related to the loss of these third-party suppliers or their inability to supply adequate materials and services.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all cash and other highly liquid investments with initial maturities from the date of purchase of three months or less
to be cash and cash equivalents.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has issued common stock warrants in connection with the execution of certain equity financings. The fair value of the
warrants, which were deemed to be derivative instruments, was recorded as a derivative liability under the provisions of Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), because they are not considered indexed to the
Company’s own stock. Subsequently, the liability is adjusted to fair value as of the end of each reporting period and the changes in fair
value of derivative liabilities are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss under the caption “Change
in fair value of warrant liability.” See Note 4 for additional information.

The fair value of the warrants, including the warrants issued in connection with the January 2020 common stock offering and recorded as a
liability, was determined using the Monte Carlo simulation model, which is deemed to be an appropriate model due to the terms of the
warrants issued.

The fair value of warrants was affected by changes in inputs to the Monte Carlo simulation model including the Company’s stock price,
expected stock price volatility, the remaining term, and the risk-free interest rate. This model uses Level 3 inputs, including stock price
volatility, in the fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 Fair Value Measurement. At September 30, 2023 the fair value of such
warrants was $0.
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Short-term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments are equity securities and are carried at their fair value based on quoted market prices. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses on equity securities are included in net earnings in the period earned or incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, useful lives of fixed
assets, contingent consideration, income taxes, revenue, and stock-based compensation. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Segments

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. To date, the
Company has viewed the operations and managed the business as one segment.

Business Combinations

The accounting for the Company’s business combinations consists of allocating the purchase price to tangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values, with the excess recorded as goodwill. The Company has up to one year from
the acquisition date to use information as of each acquisition date to adjust the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities, which may
result in material changes to their recorded values with an offsetting adjustment to goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed requires significant judgment, which includes, among other factors, analysis of historical performance and estimates
of future performance. The Company has used discounted cash flow analyses, which were based on its best estimate of future revenue,
earnings and cash flows as well as its discount rate, adjusted for risk, and estimated attrition rates.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company classifies intangible assets into three categories: (1) intangible assets with definite lives subject to amortization, (2) intangible
assets with indefinite lives not subject to amortization and (3) goodwill. The Company determines the useful lives of definite-lived
intangible assets after considering specific facts and circumstances related to each intangible asset. Factors the Company considers when
determining useful lives include the contractual term of any agreement related to the asset, the historical performance of the asset, and other
economic facts; including competition and specific market conditions. Intangible assets that are deemed to have definite lives are
amortized, primarily on a straight-line basis, over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets that are deemed to have indefinite lives,
including goodwill, are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset
might be impaired. The impairment test for indefinite-lived intangibles, other than goodwill, consists of a comparison of the fair value of the
intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, an impairment charge is recognized in an amount
equal to that excess. Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as goodwill, are not amortized. The Company tests the carrying amounts of
goodwill for recoverability on an annual basis or when events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment exists, using a
fair value-based test. The Company records a goodwill impairment charge if a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.

In-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets are considered to be indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the
associated research and development projects. IPR&D assets represent the fair value assigned to technologies that the Company acquires,
which at the time of acquisition have not reached technological feasibility and have no alternative future use. During the period that the
assets are considered indefinite-lived, they are tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if the Company becomes aware
of any events occurring or changes in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of the IPR&D assets are less than their carrying
amounts. If and when development is complete, which generally occurs upon regulatory approval and the ability to commercialize products
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associated with the IPR&D assets, these assets are then deemed definite-lived and are amortized based on their estimated useful lives at that
point in time. If development is terminated or abandoned, the Company may have a full or partial impairment charge related to the IPR&D
assets, calculated as the excess of the carrying value of the IPR&D assets over fair value.

Contingent Consideration

Consideration paid in a business combination may include potential future payments that are contingent upon the acquired business
achieving certain milestones in the future (“contingent consideration”). Contingent consideration liabilities are measured at their estimated
fair value as of the date of acquisition, with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. The
Company estimates the fair value of the contingent consideration as of the acquisition date using the estimated future cash outflows based
on the probability of meeting future milestones. The milestone payments will be made upon the achievement of clinical and
commercialization milestones as well as single low digit royalty payments and payments upon receipt of sublicensing income. Subsequent
to the date of acquisition, the Company reassesses the actual consideration earned and the probability-weighted future earn-out payments at
each balance sheet date. Any adjustment to the contingent consideration liability will be recorded in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, for the change that occurred during the fiscal year. Contingent consideration liabilities expected to be
settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date are presented in current liabilities, with the non-current portion recorded under long
term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Contingent consideration is included in discontinued operations on the consolidated
balance sheet.

Cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses

Cost of revenues consists of production wages, material costs and overhead, and other costs related to the recognition of revenue. Selling,
general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related costs for administrators, public company costs, business development
personnel as well as legal, patent-related expenses and consulting fees. Public company costs include compliance, auditing services, tax
services, insurance and investor relations.

Research and Development

Research and development includes costs associated with developmental products not yet approved by the FDA as well as costs associated
with bringing developmental products into advanced phase clinical trials as incurred. These costs consist primarily of pre-manufacturing
and manufacturing drug costs, clinical trial execution, investigator payments, license fees, salaries, stock-based compensation and related
personnel costs. Other costs include fees paid to consultants and outside service providers related to the development of the Company’s
product candidates and other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of its product candidates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Under ASC 606, revenue is
recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity
expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are
within the scope of ASC 606, the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which
the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To the extent the transaction price includes variable consideration, the
Company estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price using the most likely method based
on historical experience as well as applicable information currently available.

Product Sales
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The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when its performance obligation with its customers has been satisfied. The
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the Company’s customers obtain control of the product, which is typically upon
acceptance of the product at the delivery site. The Company invoices its customers after acceptance of the product and invoice payments
are generally due within 30 days of the invoice date. The Company records product sales net of any variable consideration, including refund
rights. The Company uses the most likely amount method when estimating its variable consideration, unless terms are specified within
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue to the extent that it is probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur in a future
period. These estimates may differ from actual consideration received. The Company evaluates these estimates to reflect known changes.

Grant Revenue

The Company recognized revenue from a grant related to the Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas (“CPRIT”) contract, which
was accounted for under ASU No. 2018-08, Not-For-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for
Contributions Received and Contributions Made, as a conditional non-exchange contribution.

The CPRIT grant covered the period from June 1, 2017 through May 31, 2023, for a total grant award of up to §5.2 million. CPRIT
advanced grant funds upon request by the Company consistent with the agreed upon amounts and schedules as provided in the contract. The
first tranche of funding of $1.8 million was received in May 2017, a second tranche of funding of $.5 million was received in October
2017, and the third tranche of funding of $5.4 million was received in December 2019. The remaining $1.5 million was received in April
2023. Funds received were reflected in deferred revenue as a liability until revenue was earned. Grant revenue was recognized when
qualifying costs are incurred. When grant funds were received after costs had been incurred, the Company recorded revenue and a
corresponding grants receivable until grant funds were received. As of September 30, 2023, all $15.2 million has been recognized and
received.

License revenue

The Company has licensed certain provisional patent applications and know-how related to fusion proteins to treat cancer and other
diseases that were not being developed by the Company. Shattuck Labs, Inc. (“Shattuck”) paid the Company an initial license fee of
$50,000 in June 2016 and is obligated to pay the Company fees upon its receipt of sublicensing income, achievement of certain milestones,
and royalties upon sales of commercial products. In March 2023, the Company received a milestone payment of $100,000 from Shattuck
due to completion of a Phase 1A monotherapy dose escalation clinical trial of SL-172154. However, the technology that the Company out-
licensed remains in the early stages of development since there is a low likelihood of success for any technology at such stage, there can be
no assurance that any products will be developed by Shattuck or that the Company will derive any additional future revenue from Shattuck.

Process development revenue

Process development revenue generally represents revenue from services associated with the custom development of a manufacturing
process and analytical methods for a customer’s product. Process development revenue is recognized over time utilizing an input method by
tracking the progress toward completion by measuring inputs to date relative to total estimated inputs needed to satisfy the performance
obligation. Under a process development contract, the customer owns the product details and process, which has no alternative use. These
process development projects are customized to each customer to meet its specifications and typically include only one performance
obligation. Each process represents a distinct service that is sold separately and has stand-alone value to the customer. The customer also
retains control of its product as the product is being created or enhanced by our services and can make changes to its process or
specifications upon request. Under these agreements, the Company is entitled to consideration for progress to date that includes an element
of profit margin.

The transaction price for services provided under the Company’s contracts reflects its best estimate of the amount of consideration to which
it is entitled in exchange for providing goods and services to our customers. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the
Company allocates transaction price to each performance obligation identified in a contract on a relative standalone selling price basis. If
observable standalone selling prices are not available, the Company
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estimates the applicable standalone selling price based on the pricing of other comparable services or on a price that the Company believes
the market is willing to pay for the applicable service.

In determining the transaction price, the Company also considered the different sources of variable consideration including, but not limited
to, discounts, credits, refunds, price concessions or other similar items. The Company has included in the transaction price some or all of an
amount of variable consideration, utilizing the most likely method, only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The actual amount of consideration ultimately received may differ.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue is comprised of an exclusive license agreement with Shattuck and process development customer deposits received in
advance of our fulfillment of performance obligations.

License Agreements

The Company has licensed certain provisional patent applications and know-how related to fusion proteins to treat cancer and other
diseases that were not being developed by the Company. Shattuck paid the Company an initial license fee of $50,000 in June 2016 and is
obligated to pay the Company fees upon its receipt of sublicensing income, achievement of certain milestones, and royalties upon sales of
commercial products. In-as-much as the technology that the Company out-licensed remains in the early stages of development since there is
a low likelihood of success for any technology at such stage, there can be no assurance that any products will be developed by Shattuck or
that the Company will derive any additional future revenue from Shattuck.

Process Development

Process development deferred revenue generally represents customer payments received in advance of the Company’s fulfillment of
performance obligations associated with the custom development of a manufacturing process and analytical methods for a customer’s
product. As of September 30, 2023, there was $4.1 million of deferred revenue related to process development.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are primarily comprised of amounts owed to us for services and sales provided under our customer contracts and are
recorded at the invoiced amount net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, if necessary. The Company applies judgment in assessing the
ultimate realization of our receivables and we estimate an allowance for doubtful accounts based on various factors, such as the aging of
our receivables, historical experience, and the financial condition of our customers.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

The Company’s prepaid expenses and other current assets consist primarily of amounts paid in advance for manufacturing activities, clinical
trial support, contract assets and insurance. Contract assets consist of unbilled receivables.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases,
operating loss carryforwards, and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent that utilization is not presently more likely than not.
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Other Assets
The balance consists of $0.5 million of land option agreements for the Kansas facility.
Other Liabilities

In conjunction with the acquisition of Elusys, the Company recorded an uncertain tax position reserve for the research and development
credits utilized on the Elusys pre-acquisition short period 2022 return. The Company is not able to assert that the credit amounts utilized are
more likely than not to be sustained by the IRS upon audit and thus a liability of $1.0 million was recorded and is included in discontinued
operations on the consolidated balance sheet.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with ASC Subtopic 205-20, Presentation of Financial Statements: Discontinued Operations, a disposal of a component of an
entity or a group of components of an entity (“disposal group”) is required to be reported as discontinued operations if the disposal group
represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results when the disposal group
meets held for sale criteria. Assets and liabilities of disposal group meeting discontinued operations treatment is presented separately as
held-for-sale. At the same time, the results of all discontinued operations, less applicable income taxes, are reported as components of net
loss separate from the net loss of continuing operations.

Assets classified as held for sale that are not sold after the initialone-year period are assessed to determine if they meet the exception to the
one-year requirement to continue being classified as held for sale. The disposal group that is held for sale is the Elusys Therapeutics, Inc.
subsidiary.

Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies used in preparation of these interim financial statements are disclosed in the audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report.

Impact of Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASU 2016-13), which amends the
impairment model by requiring entities to use a forward looking approach based on expected losses to estimate credit losses on certain
types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. For trade receivables and other instruments, entities will be required to use a new
forward-looking expected loss model that generally will result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. The Company adopted
ASU 2016-13 as of January 1, 2023.

The cumulative effect of applying the new credit loss standard was not material and, therefore, did not result in an adjustment to retained
earnings. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or related
financial statement disclosures.

2. Discontinued Operations

The Company considers assets to be held for sale when management approves and commits to a plan to actively market the assets for sale at
a reasonable price in relation to its fair value, the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition, an active program to
locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the sale have been initiated, the sale of the assets is expected to be completed within
one year and it is unlikely that significant changes will be made to the plan. Upon designation as held for sale, the Company ceases to
record depreciation and amortization expenses and measures the assets at the lower of their carrying value or estimated fair value less costs
to sell. Assets held for sale are included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses are not recognized until the date of
sale and will be recognized in income (loss) from operating activities.
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As of September 30, 2023, the Company’s activities with regard to the divesture of the Elusys Therapeutics business met the criteria to
report within discontinued operations. The Company has reclassified its previously issued financial statements to segregate the discontinued

operations as of the earliest period presented.

The Company evaluated its intangible asset and goodwill for impairment under ASC 360-10,/mpairment or disposal of long-lived assets
and ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other. As a result, goodwill was fully impaired by $3.9 million and intangible assets were
partially impaired by $2.3 million. These impairments resulted in the carrying value of the held for sale asset being less than the fair value
and therefore no loss has been recognized upon reclassification of the disposal group to held for sale treatment.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 relate

to the planned divestiture of the Elusys Therapeutics business and consist of the following:

Assets of discontinued operations:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Income tax refund receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total Current Assets
Long term assets:
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Operating lease right-of-use asset
Deposits
Total long term assets
Total assets held for sale

Liabilities held for sale:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Contingent consideration, current portion
Operating lease liability, current portion
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long term liabilities:
Contingent consideration, net of current portion
Total long term liabilities
Total liabilities held for sale

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

3,319,793 5,242,840
6,699,200

— 600,877

72,432 2,084,419

5,300,204 —
1,002,904

16,394,533 7,928,136

— 41,853

- 8,669,375

— 3,301,959

— 138,885

— 26,251

— 12,178,323

16,394,533 20,106,459

800,258 210,321

475,618 2,385,319

11,946,916 6,934,115

— 92,524

1,002,904 —

14,225,696 9,622,279

— 5,290,500

— 5,290,500

14,225,696 14,912,779
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The Company determined that the disposal group represents a strategic shift that will have a major effect on the Company's operations and
financial results, and has therefore reflected the Elusys Therapeutics business as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. Details
of the loss from discontinued operations included in our consolidated statement of operations are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended,
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 6,699,200 $ 5,980,994 $ 6,699,200 6,012,993
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues 2,161,601 6,319,723 2,161,601 6,319,723
Research and development 1,026,483 1,524,748 2,191,796 2,230,373
Selling, general and administrative 335,851 276,018 1,147,730 481,877
Amortization of intangible asset 363,750 316,875 1,091,250 666,875
Goodwill impairment loss 3,873,079 — 3,873,079 —
Intangible asset impairment loss 2,277,921 — 2,277,921 —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (286,855) — (177,354) —
Total operating expenses 9,751,830 8,437,364 12,566,023 9,698,848
Loss from operations (3,052,630) (2,456,370) (5,866,823) (3,685,855)
Other expense, net 12,053 (244,576) 18,603 (245,929)
Total non-operating income (loss) 12,053 (244,576) 18,603 (245,929)
Net loss from discontinued operations before income taxes (3,040,577) (2,700,946) (5,848,220) (3,931,784)
Income tax expense from discontinued operations (65,189) — (65,189) —
Net loss from discontinued operations $  (3,105,766) $ (2,700,946) $ (5,913,409) $ (3,931,784)

3. Acquisitions
Pelican Therapeutics

In 2017, the Company consummated the acquisition 0of80% of the outstanding equity of Pelican, a related party, and Pelican became a
majority owned subsidiary of the Company. During the quarter ended March 31, 2018, cash consideration of approximately $300,000 was
distributed to the participating Pelican stockholders and the remainder of approximately $200,000 for certain Pelican liabilities not satisfied
was recognized as other income in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the period. In October 2018, the Company
entered into an agreement with the University of Miami (“UM”) whereby UM exchanged its shares of stock in the Company’s subsidiaries,
Heat I, Inc. and Pelican. The stock exchange resulted in the Company increasing its controlling ownership in Pelican from 80% to 85%.

Under the agreement, the Company was also obligated to make future payments based on the achievement of certain clinical and
commercialization milestones, as well as low single digit royalty payments and payments upon receipt of sublicensing income. However,
due to the discontinuation of PTX-35 no future milestone payments are expected to be made. The goodwill and in-process R&D resulting
from the acquisition were fully impaired as of December 31, 2022.

Elusys Therapeutics

On April 18, 2022 (“Closing Date”), the Company closed on the acquisition of Elusys. The Company paid at the closing a cash upfront
payment of $3,000,000 to the former owners (“Sellers”) of Elusys. The Company was obligated to pay the Sellers £,000,000 of deferred
cash consideration (“Merger Consideration”) at the same time that the payment of the receivable consideration was to be distributed to the
Sellers as described below, which was paid in the second quarter of 2022. Earn out payments will be paid to the Sellers for a period of 12
years from the date of the closing equal to 10% of the gross dollar amount of payments received during eachone year period during such

twelve year period with respect to any sale, license or commercialization anywhere in the world of ANTHIM® that either: (a) occurs during
the first nine
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years after the Closing Date in any respect; or (b) occurs thereafter pursuant to any contract, agreement, commitment or order that is placed,
granted, awarded, or entered into during the first nine years after the Closing Date.

Per the merger agreement that was executed in connection with the acquisition of Elusys (the “Merger Agreement”), upon collection of the
Elusys contract receivables of $24.5 million, The Company is obligated to remit payment of $22.3 million (the “Receivable
Consideration”) to the Sellers. In April 2022, $20.8 million was remitted to the Sellers less a hold back of $1.5 million related to future
fulfillment cost. Elusys is expected to receive additional revenue from the future fulfillment of an existing U.S. Government contract, and
the Company agreed to fulfill the future obligations of Elusys under such contract and pass through and distribute to the Sellers the
payments received under such contract minus the costs associated with such fulfillment obligations, subject to certain adjustments to the
Merger Consideration specified in the Merger Agreement, including income taxes payable with respect to such payments (the “Contract
Deferred Consideration”). The Merger Agreement further provides that 80% of any amounts paid to and received by Elusys (the
“Additional Earn Out”) after the Closing Date and prior to June 30, 2023, shall be paid to the Sellers, subject to certain adjustments
specified in the Merger Agreement.

The Company acquired Elusys to expand its role in the biodefense space, complementing its focus to target emerging biological threats. The
Company initially expected to leverage the capabilities of its Scorpius biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan, Kansas, to manufacture
Elusys’s therapies internally and therefore benefit from significant operating synergies, cost savings, as well as enhanced oversight, quality
control, and speed to market. However, the Company is unable to manufacture the Elusys’ therapies internally. In addition, the Company
has been unable to generate sufficient revenue from its current manufacturing facility or raise sufficient capital to enable it to build the
biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan, Kansas and instead has been required to place contract with third parties for the manufacture of the
Elusys’ therapies. See Note 15-Commitments and Contingencies.

The fair value of the purchase consideration was approximately $2.9 million. The purchase consideration consists of $3.0 million in cash
and $2.0 million in deferred cash consideration, and the estimated fair value of the contingent and deferred consideration liabilities related
to the receivable consideration, contract deferred consideration, earn out and additional earn out totaling $37.9 million. The valuation of the
contract deferred consideration and earn out liabilities were valued using a discounted cash flow analysis that utilized discount rates of 24%
and 14%, respectively. The value of the additional earn out liability was calculated as80% of the estimated gross sales price of 1,500 pre-
filled vials of ANTHIM®), less estimated fulfillment costs to be incurred. The value of the receivable consideration was equal to the value of
the contract receivables acquired, less holdback expenses, as this liability was settled within 30 days of the Closing Date.

The acquisition of Elusys was accounted for as a business combination and reflects the application of acquisition accounting in accordance
with ASC 805, Business Combinations. The acquired Elusys’ assets, including identifiable intangible assets and liabilities assumed, have

been recorded at their fair values with the excess purchase price assigned to goodwill. The recognition of goodwill is largely attributed to the
value paid for Elusys’ capabilities, which will broaden NightHawk’s role in the biodefense space. The goodwill recorded for this transaction
is valued at $3.9 million and will be deductible for tax purposes overl5 years.

The purchase price 0of$42.9 million has been allocated to the underlying assets and liabilities based on their fair value at the date of
acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill:

Aggregate consideration:

Cash consideration $ 3,000,000
Deferred cash consideration 2,000,000
Earn out 5,900,000
Additional earn out 4,735,000
Receivable consideration 22,318,685
Contract deferred consideration 4,900,000
Total purchase consideration $ 42,853,685
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The purchase price allocation resulted in the following amounts being allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
closing date based on their respective fair values summarized below:

Purchase price allocation:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,719,899
Contract receivables 24,526,232
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,818,278
Inventory 5,844,000
Intangible asset — definite-lived (Note 7) 9,700,000
Property and equipment 50,224
Operating lease right of use assets 352,906
Other assets 1,329,153
Total assets acquired 49,340,692
Accounts payable (204,794)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (5,155,363)
Operating lease obligations (352,906)
Deferred income tax liability (3,644,120)
Other liabilities (1,002,904)
Total liabilities assumed (10,360,087)
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 38,980,605
Goodwill 3,873,080
$ 42,853,685

Total purchase consideration

From the Elusys acquisition date through September 30, 2022, $6.0 million of total revenue and a net loss before income taxes of $2.7
million associated with Elusys operations are included discontinued operations in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the three months ended September 30, 2022. $6.0 million of total revenue and a net loss before income taxes of $3.9
million associated with Elusys operations are included discontinued operations in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information assumes the companies were combined as of January 1, 2021. The unaudited pro
forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is based on estimates and assumptions that have been
made solely for purposes of developing such pro forma information. This is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would
have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2021, nor is it necessarily indicative of future results. Consequently,
actual results could differ materially from the unaudited pro forma financial information presented below. The following table presents the
pro forma operating results as if Elusys had been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Loss as of January 1, 2021 (unaudited):

Three months ended Nine months ended

September 30, September 30,
2022 2022
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenue $ 29,347,513 § 29,892,585
Net loss $ (1,296,510) $ (21,282,125)
Net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted $ (0.05) $ (0.83)

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued
expenses and other payables approximate fair value due to their short maturities.
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As a basis for determining the fair value of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, the Company utilizes a three-tier fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level I — Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level II — Observable inputs, other than Level I prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level III — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the entire fair value
measurement requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability. The Company’s cash
equivalents are classified within Level I of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company’s short-term investments consist of Level I securities which are comprised of highly liquid money market funds. The
estimated fair value of the short-term investments was based on quoted market prices. There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy
levels during the quarters ended September 30, 2023 or 2022.

In January 2020, the Company issued warrants in connection with the public offering of common stock (the “January 2020 Warrants”).

Pursuant to the terms of these warrants, the warrants were not considered indexed to the Company’s own stock and therefore are required to

be measured at fair value and reported as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, upon the closing of the January 2020

offering, 479,595 outstanding warrants were evaluated for whether they were modified for accounting purposes, and it was determined that
they were required to be classified as a liability. The fair value of the warrant liability is based on the Monte Carlo methodology. The

Company is required to revalue the warrants at each reporting date with any changes in fair value recorded in our consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. The valuation of the warrants is classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy due to the need to
use assumptions in the valuation that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable. In order to calculate the fair value
of the warrants, certain assumptions were made, including the selling price or fair market value of the underlying common stock, risk-free
interest rate, volatility, and remaining life. Changes to the assumptions could cause significant adjustments to valuation. The Company
estimated a volatility factor utilizing its own data. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the
grant for treasury securities of similar maturity.

The following table presents quantitative information about the inputs used in the valuation for the Company’s fair value measurement of
the warrant liability classified as Level 3:

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Current stock price $ 0.53 $ 0.81
Estimated volatility of future stock price 59.02 % 80.94 %
Risk free interest rate 5.55 % 4.75 %
Contractual term 0.16 years 0.90 years

As of September 30, 2023, there were a total 0f9,357 warrants outstanding that are subject to quarterly revaluation with a fair value of 9.
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The fair value of financial instruments measured on a recurring basis is as follows:

As of September 30, 2023

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Short-term investments $ 4,167,755 $ — S —

As of December 31, 2022

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Short-term investments $ 35837309 $§ — § —

The following tables summarize the change in fair value, as determined by Level 3 inputs, for all assets and liabilities using unobservable

Level 3 inputs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022:

Elusys Contingent Consideration:
Balance at June 30, 2023

Payment of contingent consideration
Change in fair value
Reclassification to held for sale
Balance at September 30, 2023

Elusys Contingent Consideration:
Balance at December 31, 2022
Payment of contingent consideration
Change in fair value
Reclassification to held for sale
Balance at September 30, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2022
Change in fair value
Balance at September 30, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2021
Change in fair value
Balance at September 30, 2022

Elusys
Contingent
Consideration
$ 12,334,115
(100,344)
(286,855)
(11,946,916)
s -
Elusys
Contingent
_ Consideration
$ 12,224,614
(100,344)
(177,354)
(11,946,916)
$;
Pelican
Contingent Warrant
Consideration Liability
$ 3,118,515 § 1,730
(3,118,515) (1,456)
$ — 274
Pelican
Contingent Warrant
Consideration Liability
$ 3,342,515 § 11,020
(3,342,515) (10,746)
$ — 3 274

The change in the fair value of the contingent consideration of $(0.3) million and $(3.1) million for the three months ended September 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively, was primarily due to the change in timing and amount of the contract deferred consideration. The change in
the fair value of the contingent consideration of $(0.2) million and $(3.3) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, was primarily due to the change in timing and amount of the contract deferred consideration. Adjustments associated with the
change in fair value of contingent consideration are included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
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The following table presents quantitative information about the inputs and valuation methodologies used for the Company’s fair value
measurements of contingent consideration classified as Level 3 (which have now been reclassified to liabilities held for sale in our
consolidated balance sheets) as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

As of September 30, 2023

Valuation Significant ‘Weighted Average
Methodology Unobservable Input (range, if applicable)
Discounted Timing of expected payments 2026-2029
cash flow
Elusys revenue earn-out analysis
Discount rate 14.0%
Future revenue projections $  141.4 million

As of December 31, 2022

Valuation Significant Weighted Average
Methodology Unobservable Input (range, if applicable)
Discounted Timing of expected payments 2025-2036
cash flow
Elusys revenue earn-out analysis
Discount rate 24.5%
Future revenue projections §  325.9 million
Discounted Timing of expected payments 2023
cash flow
Elusys deferred contract consideration analysis
Discount rate 15.5%
Future revenue projections $ 7.6 million

The Company records certain non-financial assets on a non-recurring basis, including goodwill and in-process R&D. This analysis requires
significant judgments, including primarily the estimation of future development costs, the probability of success in various phases of its
development programs, potential post-launch cash flows and a risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital. The September 30, 2023
deferred contract consideration was valued using the estimated actual expected payout. The triggering event for payment to prior Elusys
shareholders is the receipt of funds from the US Government. This amount is in accounts receivable, discontinued operations, at September
30, 2023.

5. Short-Term Investments
Short-term investments consist of equity securities. The Company holds its securities at fair value as of September 30, 2023 and December
31, 2022. Unrealized gains and losses on securities are reported in the other expense line item in the statements of operations and

comprehensive loss. Short-term investments at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of mutual funds with fair values of
$4.2 million and $35.8 million, respectively.
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6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following at:

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Prepaid manufacturing expense $ 475,536  $ 91,477
Contract assets 363,918 —
Other prepaid expenses and current assets 280,787 1,132,502
Prepaid insurance 104,126 201,252
Prepaid preclinical and clinical expenses 36,861 65,892

$§ 1,261,228 § 1,491,123

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
remaining lease term, ranging generally from three to eight years. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as

incurred.

Property and equipment consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Lab equipment $ 21,080,029 $ 18,060,058
Leasehold improvements 2,827,289 2,486,329
Construction-in-process — 2,053,335
Computers 850,211 502,084
Furniture and fixtures 277,882 245,770
Vehicles — 44,562
Total 25,035,411 23,392,138
Accumulated depreciation (6,351,513) (2,953,617)
Property and equipment, net $ 18,683,898 $§ 20,438,521

Depreciation expense was $1.2 million and $3.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and $0.4
million and $0.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company performs an annual impairment test at the reporting unit level as of April 1st of each fiscal year or more frequently when an
event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Pelican Goodwill and In-Process R&D

Goodwill of $2.2 million and in-process R&D of $5.9 million were recorded in connection with the acquisition of Pelican, as described in
Note 3 and have been allocated to the Pelican reporting unit. During the fourth quarter of 2021, due to a sustained decline in the quoted
market price of its common stock, the Company performed an interim impairment analysis using the income approach and in-process R&D
with a total carrying value of $5.9 million was written down to its estimated fair value of $3.5 million and an impairment charge of $2.4
million during the fourth quarter of 2021 was recorded and goodwill in the amount of $1.5 million was fully impaired. During the third
quarter of 2022, the Company elected to terminate any further development of PTX-35. As a result of the termination, the in-process R&D
affiliated with PTX-35, in the amount of $3.5 million, was fully impaired.
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Elusys Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill of $3.9 million and an intangible asset of $9.7 million were recorded in connection with the acquisition of Elusys which has been
allocated to the Elusys reporting unit. During the fourth quarter of 2022, due to a sustained decline in the quoted market price of its
common stock, the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment analysis using the income approach. However, through its
quantitative analysis, the Company determined the carrying value was not in excess of its estimated fair value and therefore no impairment
charge was recorded at December 31, 2022. The Company’s annual impairment analysis was performed on April 1, 2023 using the income
approach that determined the carrying value remained not in excess of its estimated fair value and, therefore, no impairment charge was
necessary.

The Company evaluated its intangible asset and goodwill for impairment under ASC 360-10,/mpairment or disposal of long-lived assets
and ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other. As a result, goodwill was fully impaired by$3.9 million and intangible assets were
partially impaired by $2.3 million. Elusys’ intangible asset relates to the ANTHIM® formulation and was amortized over its remaining
patent life of approximately 80 months. The intangible asset is no longer being amortized now that is included in discontinued operations.

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 is as follows:

Intangible
Goodwill Assets
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 3,301,959 $ 8,669,375
Impairment (3,873,079) (2,277,921)
Acquisition fair value adjustments 571,120 —
Amortization of intangible asset — (1,091,250)
Reclassified to discontinued operations — (5,300,204)
Balance at September 30, 2023 $ — 3 —

The Company finalized the purchase price allocation for the Elusys acquisition in April 2023 and recorded a measurement period
adjustment that increased goodwill by approximately $0.6 million, increased other assets by $1.0 million, increased the liability for
uncertain tax positions by $1.0 million and increased the deferred tax liability by the $0.6 million (see Note 13).

9. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Accrued marketing expenses $ 749,998 $ —
Accrued preclinical and clinical trial expenses 252,618 953,252
Compensation and related benefits 373,211 491,191
Accrued manufacturing expenses 345,646 6,133
Other expenses 240,145 426,025
Accrued franchise tax 70,000 40,000

$ 2,031,618 $ 1,916,601

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock Warrants
As of September 30, 2023, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase313,358 shares of common stock issuable at a weighted-

average exercise price of $11.55 per share. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 747,383 shares of
common stock issuable at a weighted-average exercise price of $11.06 per share.
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The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s common stock warrants for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The
Company had no common stock warrant activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Common Stock

Warrants
Outstanding, December 31, 2022 747,383
Expired (434,025)
Outstanding, September 30, 2023 313,358

Equity Compensation Plans

The Company maintains various equity compensation plans (“Plans”) with substantially similar provisions under which it may award
employees, directors and consultants incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other stock-
based awards with terms established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors which has been appointed by the Board of
Directors to administer the plans.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation:

Stock Compensation Expense - For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded .6 million and
$2.1 million of stock-based compensation expense, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company
recorded $0.7 million and $2.4 million of stock-based compensation expense, respectively. No compensation expense for employees with
stock awards was capitalized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Stock Options - Under the Plans, the Company has issued stock options. A stock option grant gives the holder the right, but not the
obligation, to purchase a certain number of shares at a predetermined price for a specific period of time. The Company typically issues
options that vest over four years in equal installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Under the terms of the Plans,
the contractual life of the option grants may not exceed ten years. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the
Company issued options that expire ten years from the date of grant.

Fair Value Determination — The Company has used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of our stock
option awards on the date of grant. The Company will reconsider the use of the Black-Scholes model if additional information becomes
available in the future that indicates another model would be more appropriate or if grants issued in future periods have characteristics that
cannot be reasonably estimated under this model.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used for option grants during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023
and 2022:

o  Volatility — The Company used an average historical stock price volatility from its own data.
o  Expected life of options — The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock option grants are expected to be
outstanding. The Company elected to utilize the “simplified” method to estimate the expected term. Under this approach, the

weighted-average expected life is presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the option.

®  Risk-free interest rate — The rate is based on U.S. Treasury interest rates at the time of the grant whose term is consistent with the
expected life of the stock options.

o  Dividend yield — The expected dividend yield was considered to be0% since the Company has not paid any dividends and has no
plan to do so in the future.
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e  Forfeitures — As required by ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, the Company reviews recent forfeitures and stock
compensation expense. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

The following table summarizes weighted-average assumptions used in our calculations of fair value for the nine months ended September
30,2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Dividend yield — % — %
Expected volatility 101.92 % 102.75 %
Risk-free interest rate 2.47 % 251 %
Expected lives (years) 5.6 years 6.0 years

Stock Option Activity — During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there wereno options granted. The weighted-average fair
value of options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2022, as determined under the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
was $2.25 per share.

The following is a summary of the stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2023:

‘Weighted Weighted
Average  Aggregate Average
Exercise Intrinsic Remaining
Shares Price Value Contractual Life
Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2022 7,036,874 $ 3.67 $ 16,842
Expired (102,847) 8.59
Forfeited (214,084) 3.42
Stock options outstanding at September 30, 2023 6,719.943 § 3.61 $§ 10947 8.3 Years
Stock options exercisable at September 30, 2023 3,949,543 § 485 $ 10,947 7.9 Years

Unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $.2 million as of September 30, 2023, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years and will be adjusted for forfeitures as they occur.

Restricted Stock - Under the Plans, the Company has issued restricted stock. A restricted stock award is an issuance of shares that
cannot be sold or transferred by the recipient until the vesting period lapses. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock is equal to the

closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant.

The following is a summary of restricted stock award activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2023:

Weighted
Average
Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock at December 31, 2022 34,001 $ 3.22
Released (34,001) 3.22

Restricted stock at September 30, 2023 — 3 —

Restricted Stock Units - Under the Plans, the Company may issue time-based Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). RSUs are not actual
shares, but rather a right to receive shares in the future. The shares are not issued and the employee cannot sell or transfer shares prior to
vesting and has no voting rights until the RSUs vest. The employees' time-based RSUs vest pro-rata over 36 months. The grant date fair
value of the RSUs is equal to the closing market price of our common stock on the grant date. The Company recognizes the grant date fair
value of RSUs the Company expects to issue as compensation expense ratably over the requisite service period.

The following is a summary of restricted stock unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2023:

Weighted
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Average
Shares Fair Value
RSUs at December 31, 2022 — 3 —
Granted 360,000 1.18
Released (80,000) 1.18
RSUs at September 30, 2023 280,000 § 1.18

11. Revenue
Product sales

On April 19, 2022, Elusys entered into a contract with Public Works and Government Services of Canada to deliver3,000 vials of
ANTHIM® (FDA-approved anthrax antitoxin) for treatment of inhalational anthrax due to Bacillus anthrax. The total contract award was
$5.9 million with a delivery date on or before September 30, 2022. This order was fulfilled on September 13, 2022 for the total contract
amount of $5.9 million, of which after deducting fulfillment expenses, $1.1 million was retained by Elusys and $4.6 million was paid to
Seller. This is included in discontinued operations on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

On September 13, 2023, Elusys completed the manufacturing conversion 0f23,732 vials of ANTHIM® with its contract with the US
Department of Health and Human Services for the contract amount of $6.7 million which is included in discontinued operations on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Grant revenue

In June 2016, Pelican entered into a cancer research grant contract (or “Grant Contract”) with CPRIT, under which CPRIT awarded a grant
not to exceed $15.2 million for use in developing cancer treatments by targeting a novel T-cell costimulatory receptor (namely,
TNFRSF25). The grant contract covers a period from June 1, 2016 through November 30, 2020, as amended through May 31, 2023. The
first tranche of funding of $1.8 million was received in May 2017, a second tranche of funding of $.5 million was received in October 2017
and a third tranche of funding of $5.4 million was received in December 2019. The remaining $1.5 million was received in April 2023 after
the Company had fulfilled every requirement of the grant and the grant had been approved to be finalized. As of September 30, 2023, all
$15.2 million has been recognized and received. There wasno grant revenue during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023
and $0.1 million and $0.3 million of grant revenue during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022.

The grant is subject to customary CPRIT funding conditions including a matching funds requirement where Pelican will match $.50 for
every $1.00 from CPRIT. Consequently, Pelican was required to provide $7.6 million in matching funds over the life of the project. Upon
commercialization of the product, the terms of the grant require Pelican to pay tiered royalties in the low to mid-single digit percentages.
Such royalties reduce to less than one percent after a mid-single-digit multiple of the grant funds have been paid to CPRIT in royalties.

Through September 30, 2023, $15.2 million of grant funding has been recognized as revenue and received. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company had a grant receivable balance of $1.5 million for CPRIT proceeds not yet received but for which the costs had been incurred or
the conditions of the award have been met. In April, 2023, the final $1.5 million of funding was received.

License revenue

In June 2016, NightHawk licensed certain provisional patent applications and know-how related to fusion proteins to treat cancer and other
diseases with Shattuck. Shattuck paid the Company an initial license fee of $50,000 in June 2016 and is obligated to pay the Company fees
upon its receipt of sublicensing income, achievement of certain milestones, and royalties upon sales of commercial products. In March
2023, the Company received a milestone payment of $100,000 from Shattuck due to completion of a Phase 1A monotherapy dose
escalation clinical trial of SL-172154.
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Process development revenue

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized $.6 million and $2.0 million in process
development revenue. All process development revenue was primarily derived from two customers who each represented over 10% of the
total recognized revenue. These revenues were derived from the contract liability which was recorded in the prior period as deferred
revenue.

The following table presents changes in contract liabilities for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022:

Contract liabilities

Balance at June 30, 2023 $ (2,734,524)
Changes to the beginning balance arising from:
Reclassification to revenue as the result of performance obligations satisfied 638,625
Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (1,993,247)
Balance at September 30, 2023 $ (4,089,146)

Contract liabilities

Balance at June 30, 2022 $ (35,000)
Changes to the beginning balance arising from:

Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (716,350)

Balance at September 30, 2022 $ (751,350)

The following table presents changes in contract liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022:

Contract liabilities

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (35,000)
Changes to the beginning balance arising from:
Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (1,583,308)
Balance at December 31, 2022 (1,618,308)
Changes to the beginning balance arising from:
Reclassification to revenue as the result of performance obligations satisfied 1,962,303
Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (4,433,141)
Balance at September 30, 2023 $ (4,089,146)

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable and contract liabilities (customer
deposits and deferred revenue). Contract liabilities represent customer deposits and deferred revenue billed and/or received in advance of
our fulfillment of performance obligations. Contract liabilities convert to revenue as we perform our obligations under the contract.

The opening and closing balances of the Company’s accounts receivables are as follows:

Opening on January 1, 2022 $ 66,049
Closing on December 31, 2022 $ 81,456
Closing on September 30, 2023 $ 313,906
12. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods. Fully diluted net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of
common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the periods.
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Common equivalent shares consist of stock options, warrants, and unvested restricted stock that are computed using the treasury stock
method.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, all of the Company’s common stock options, unvested restricted stock
units and warrants are anti-dilutive and therefore have been excluded from the diluted calculation.

The following table reconciles net loss to net loss attributable to NightHawk Biosciences, Inc.:

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Net loss $ (14312,029) $ (13,347,771) $ (41,168,866) $ (28,475,479)
Net loss - Non-controlling interest (1,179,559) (89,421) (1,359,734) (265,256)
Net loss attributable to NightHawk $ (13,132,470) $ (13,258,350) $ (39,809,132) § (28,210,223)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and
diluted 26,050,562 25,613,316 26,022,244 25,603,481
Net loss per share, basic and diluted - continuing operations $ 0.38) $ 0.41) $ (1.30) $ (0.95)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted - discontinued operations (0.12) 0.11) (0.23) (0.15)
Net loss per common share attributable to NightHawk
Biosciences, Inc., basic and diluted $ 0.50) $ 0.52) $ (1.53) $ (1.10)

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 due to their anti-dilutive effect:

2023 2022
Outstanding stock options 6,719,943 3,006,968
Restricted stock subject to forfeiture and restricted stock units 280,000 46,859
Outstanding common stock warrants 313,358 747,383

13. Income Tax

Income taxes have been computed using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740 “Income Taxes”. The Company
computes its interim provision for income taxes by applying the estimated annual effective tax rate method. The Company estimates an
annual effective tax rate of 0% for the year ending December 31, 2023. This rate does not include the impact of income tax expense or
benefit recognized as discrete items. The total tax expense or (benefit) during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, was
approximately $0.1 million and $(0.04) million, respectively. The total tax expense or (benefit) during the nine months ended September
30, 2023 and 2022, was approximately $(0.5) million and $(3.3) million, respectively. In general, the variation between the Company's
quarterly or YTD effective income tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate of 21% is primarily due to: (i) changes in the Company’s valuation
allowances against deferred tax assets, and (ii) income tax benefits of $(0.6) million and $(3.0) million recognized as discrete items during
the quarters ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively, related to the purchase accounting for the Elusys Therapeutics, Inc.
acquisition.

The Company incurred losses for the nine month period ended September 30, 2023 and is forecasting additional losses through the year,
resulting in an estimated net loss for both financial statement and tax purposes for the year ending December 31, 2023. Due to the
Company’s history of losses, there is not sufficient evidence to record a net deferred tax asset associated with the U.S., Australian, and
German operations. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been recorded related to the net deferred tax assets in those jurisdictions.
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U.S. GAAP requires a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position
for recognition by determining if the available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that
is cumulatively more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company's liability for unrecognized tax benefits was §.5 million. Of this balance, $1.0 million would
affect the Company's effective tax rate if recognized and is included in discontinued operations.

The Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties is to record them as a component of income tax expense. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2023, the Company accrued interest and penalty related to uncertain tax positions in the total amount of $0.1 million.
This amount is included in the total income tax expense or (benefit) from discontinued operations presented in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

14. Leases

The Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842, Leases. The Company has determined that its leases for office and laboratory space
without optional terms or variable components are operating leases.

The Company conducts its operations from leased facilities in Morrisville, North Carolina; San Antonio, Texas; Parsippany, New Jersey
and North Brunswick, New Jersey. The North Carolina lease will expire in 2030, the Texas lease will expire in 2037, the Parsippany lease
will expire in July 2024 and the New Brunswick leases will expire in July 2025. The leases are for general office space, manufacturing
space, and lab space and require the Company to pay property taxes, insurance, common area expenses and maintenance costs.

In June 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Durham KTP Tech 7, LLC, to lease a15,996 square foot facility in
Morrisville, North Carolina to expand its research and development activities. The lease has a term of eight years following the
commencement date and provides the Company the option to extend the lease term for one five year term; however the option to extend was
not included in the ROU asset and liability. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and also provides up to $2.4 million for tenant
improvements. NightHawk recorded an operating lease right-of-use asset of $5.6 million and lease liability of $3.2 million for this lease in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In October 2021, Scorpius entered into a lease agreement with Merchants Ice II, LLC to lease a20,144 square foot facility in San Antonio,
TX for general office, laboratory, research, analytical, and/or biomanufacturing purposes. Merchants Ice II, LLC is a nonprofit entity
investing in the building with the intention to encourage development of emerging technologies. As a result, investments made by both
Merchants Ice II, LLC and Scorpius into the building may qualify and share tax credits under the New Market Tax Credit (“NMTC”)
program. Scorpius agreed that all investments and expenditures qualifying under the NMTC (i.e., certain equipment and building
improvements) would be purchased by Merchants Ice II, LLC to generate the largest possible tax incentive and Scorpius would reimburse
Merchants Ice II, LLC for these payments. The lease officially commenced on September 15, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, Scorpius
has reimbursed Merchants Ice II, LLC $24.3 million. There were no additional reimbursements during the nine months ended September
30, 2023. Based on ASC 842, the Company has capitalized $13.2 million of the reimbursements as lab equipment, expensed $0.9 million as
supplies and facilities, and $10.2 million has been included in the finance lease right-of-use asset. The lease has a term offifteen years
following the commencement date and provides Scorpius the option to extend the lease term for one fifteen-year term, and one subsequent
ten year term upon expiration of the first extended term. These options to extend were not included in the ROU asset and lease liability. It is
subject to fixed rate escalation increases and also provides up to $2.4 million for tenant improvements. Scorpius recorded a finance lease
right-of-use asset of $15.1 million and lease liability of $5.1 million for this lease in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In December 2022, Scorpius entered into a lease agreement with TPB Merchants Ice, LLC to lease an8,042 square foot facility in San
Antonio, TX for additional general office, laboratory, research, analytical, and/or biomanufacturing purposes. The lease has a term of
fifteen years following the commencement date and provides Scorpius the option to extend the lease term forone fifteen-year term, and one
subsequent ten-year term upon expiration of the first extended term. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and provides up to $.5
million for tenant improvements. Scorpius paid
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the lessor $5.4 million in prepaid rent which rolled-up into the right-of-use asset upon lease commencement. The lease commenced on May
2, 2023. Scorpius recorded a right-of-use asset of $7.8 million and a lease liability of $2.3 million for this lease in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Total cash paid for operating leases during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $.2 million and $0.6 million and is
included within cash flows from operating activities within the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The Company’s lease cost is reflected in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss within general and
administrative and research and development as follows:

For the Three For the Nine Months

Months Ended Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2023
Operating lease cost $ 287,590 956,673

Finance lease cost

Amortization of lease assets 526,709 1,240,249
Interest on lease liabilities 235,566 525,791
Total finance lease cost $ 762,275 $ 1,766,040

The weighted average remaining lease term and incremental borrowing rate as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

For the Nine Months For the Nine Months
Ended Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Weighted average remaining lease term
Operating leases 6.7 years 4.2 years
Finance leases 11.3 years 9.5 years
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate
Operating leases 9.45 % 525 %
Finance leases 10.12 % 6.65 %
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Maturities of operating and finance lease liabilities as of September 30, 2023 were as follows:

Operating Leases Finance Leases Total
2023 (excluding the nine months ended September 30, 2023) $ 175,322 411,365 $ 586,687
2024 667,825 1,825,556 2,493,381
2025 635,180 1,736,837 2,372,017
2026 575,350 1,664,975 2,240,325
2027 592,572 902,127 1,494,699
2028 610,407 931,290 1,541,697
2029 628,723 961,311 1,590,034
Thereafter 536,933 9,340,354 9,877,287
Total minimum lease payments 4,422,312 17,773,815 22,196,127
Less: imputed interest (1,192,210) (7,755,573) (8,947,783)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 3,230,102 $ 10,018242 $§ 13,248,344

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Elusys relies on Lonza, a third-party manufacturer, to produce commercial quantities of its ANTHIM® bulk drug product requirements.
Elusys has firm orders with Lonza for future purchases of bulk drug substance, with remaining total non-cancellable future commitments of
approximately $53.0 million through 2025. If Elusys were to terminate certain firm orders with Lonza without cause, it will be required to
pay for bulk drug substance scheduled for manufacture under its arrangement.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial
statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of certain events could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our 2022 Annual Report. This discussion may
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Forward-Looking Statements.” You should review the
disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the 2022 Annual Report for a discussion of
important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Our current focus is on our contract development and manufacturing organization (“CDMO”) that provides a comprehensive range of
services from process development to Current Good Manufacturing Practices (“CGMP”) clinical and commercial manufacturing of
biologics for the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries through our Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. (“Scorpius”) subsidiary.
Scorpius pairs cGMP biomanufacturing and quality control expertise with cutting edge capabilities in immunoassays, molecular assays, and
bioanalytical methods to support cell- and gene-based therapies as well as large molecule biologics. Our services include clinical and
commercial drug substance manufacturing, release and stability testing and variety of process development services, including upstream and
downstream development and optimization, analytical method development, cell line development, testing and characterization. Our lead
facility in San Antonio, TX commenced operations in October 2022.

During the past year, our priorities had shifted to our biodefense and biomanufacturing capabilities resulting in a refocusing of our

resources and efforts towards biodefense and biomanufacturing and away from our clinical-stage oncology assets including HS-110 and
PTX-35. We also intend to continue discovery efforts of our subsidiary, Skunkworx, if we have sufficient resources.
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We acquired Elusys to expand our role in the biodefense space, complementing our focus to target emerging biological threats. We initially

expected to leverage the capabilities of its Scorpius biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan, Kansas, to manufacture Elusys’s therapies
internally and therefore benefit from significant operating synergies,cost savings as well as enhanced oversight, quality control, and speed
to market. However, we have been unable to manufacture the Elusys’ theapies internally and have been unable to generate sufficient
revenue from our current manufacturing facility or raise sufficient capital to enable us to build the biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan,
Kansas and instead have been required to place contract with third parties for the manufacture of the Elusys’ therapies. Elusys’ agreement
with Lonza obligates us to pay for certain services upon placement of an order and only allows us to cancel manufacturing of batches for
which we have placed orders under certain circumstances. Based upon the order that we placed in March 2023, we anticipate being
obligated to pay over a two-year period to Lonza approximately $34 million and an additional $19 million for resins and other raw materials
required for production. Based on our financial position and the foregoing, management continues to evaluate our future direction,
including continuing to explore strategic alternatives, including the divestiture of Elusys.

In August 2023, Mr. Wolf submitted a non-binding offer letter to our Board of Directors, for an entity that he controlled to buy all of the
equity of Elusys. After receipt of the offer letter, the Special Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised of all of the members of the
Board other than Mr. Wolf, commenced the active marketing of Elusys with the intend of reducing our obligations.

On September 18, 2023, our Board approved a refocus and restructuring plan (the “Plan”) to shed our non-core assets and reduce its
operating costs in order to refocus its efforts and resources on Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc.(“Scorpius”), our revenue generating contract
development and manufacturing organization (“CDMO”). The goal of this reduction was to direct our resources towards developing our
CDMO business, which we believe will represent our best opportunity for success. Pursuant to the Plan, on September 18, 2023, we
implemented a workforce reduction of approximately 13 employees engaged in our research and development efforts, or 14% of our current
workforce and substantially reduced our associated research and development efforts. The Plan is expected to save approximately $1.8
million in compensation annually.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We believe that several accounting policies are important to understanding our historical and future performance. We refer to these policies
as "critical" because these specific areas generally require us to make judgments and estimates about matters that are uncertain at the time
we make the estimate, and different estimates—which also would have been reasonable—could have been used, which would have resulted
in different financial results.

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and make various assumptions, which
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, which form the basis for judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

Process development revenue generally represents revenue from services associated with the custom development of a manufacturing
process and analytical methods for a customer’s product. Process development revenue is recognized over time utilizing an input method by
tracking the progress toward completion by measuring inputs to date relative to total estimated inputs needed to satisfy the performance
obligation.

The transaction price for services provided under our customer contracts reflects our best estimates of the amount of consideration to which

we are entitled in exchange for providing goods and services to our customers. For contracts with
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multiple performance obligations, we allocate transaction price to each performance obligation identified in a contract on a relative
standalone selling price basis. If observable standalone selling prices are not available, we may estimate the applicable standalone selling
price based on the pricing of other comparable services or on a price that we believe the market is willing to pay for the applicable service.

In determining the transaction price, we also consider the different sources of variable consideration including, but not limited to, discounts,
credits, refunds, price concessions or other similar items. We include in the transaction price some or all of an amount of variable
consideration, utilizing the most likely method, only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The actual
amount of consideration ultimately received may differ.

All other significant accounting policies had no change and are summarized in Note 2 to our financial statements contained in our 2022
Annual Report.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenues. For the three months ended September 30, 2023 we recognized $6.7 million of revenue from product sales, which is included in
discontinued operations, $0.6 million of revenue from process development and $0.1 million from service revenue. For the three months
ended September 30, 2022 we recognized $5.98 million of product sales revenue, which is included in discontinued operations, and $0.06
million of service revenue. The increase in product sales revenue is due to the completion of the manufacturing conversion of ANTHIM®
and the increase in process development revenue is attributable to the operations of the San Antonio CDMO facility. No grant revenue was
recognized in 2023 as the CPRIT grant has ended.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues were $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. Of these, $2.2 million primarily
reflect the manufacturing conversion costs from the sale of ANTHIM® which are included in discontinued operations. The remaining $0.5
million primarily consists of direct cost of labor, overhead and material costs at Scorpius. We recognized $6.4 million of product cost of
revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2022 driven by the sale of ANTHIM® to Canada which is included in discontinued
operations.

Research and development expense. Research and development expenses decreased approximately 3.7% to $5.2 million for the three

months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $6.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The components of R&D
expense are as follows, in millions:

For the Three Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022
Programs
HS-110 $ — $ 0.1
HS-130 — 0.1
PTX-35 0.1 0.6
Other programs 0.3 0.3
Unallocated research and development expenses 4.8 4.3
$ 5.2 $ 5.4

e HS-110 expense decreasaed by $0.1 million primarily due to the discontinuation of the clinical trial in 2022.

HS-130 expense decreased to $0.0 from $0.1 million due to the de-prioritization of our oncology assets.

e  PTX-35 expense decreased by $0.5 million primarily due to the discontinued clinical trial and development of the product candidate
in the third quarter of 2022.

e  Other programs expense stayed consistent at $0.3 million and primarily relate to close out costs of our R&D facility.
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e Unallocated research expenses increased by $0.5 million primarily due to increased personnel costs, depreciation expense,
amortization expense and scientific hardware and software.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $6.1 million and $4.8 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increases in marketing expense of $0.6
million, personnel expense of $0.4 million, depreciation and amortization of $0.2 million, and rent expense of $0.2 million, offset by a
decrease insurance expense of $0.1 million.

Total non-operating loss. Total non-operating loss was $(0.1) million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 which primarily
consisted of $0.03 million of unrealized gains on short-term investment balances, $0.2 million of interest and dividends income on short-
term investment balances, offset by $0.8 million of interest expense and amortization related to finance leases. Total non-operating loss was
$(0.07) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 which primarily consisted of $(0.1) million of unrealized losses on short-
term investment balances, offset by $0.07 million of interest and dividends income on short-term investment balances.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenues. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 we recognized $6.7 million from product sales, which are included in
discontinued operations, $0.1 million of revenue from a licensing agreement with Shattuck Labs and $2.0 million of revenue from process
development. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 we recognized $5.98 million of product sales revenue, which are included in
discontinued operations, $0.1 million of contract revenue, and $0.2 million of CPRIT grant revenue. The increase in product sales revenue
is due to the completion of the manufacturing conversion of ANTHIM® and the increase in process development revenue is attributable to
the operations of the San Antonio CDMO facility. No grant revenue was recognized in 2023 as the CPRIT grant has ended.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues were $3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. $2.1 million of these expenses
primarily reflect the manufacturing conversion costs from the sale of ANTHIM® which are included in discontinued operations. The
remaining $1.5 million primarily consists of direct cost of labor, overhead and material costs at Scorpius. We recognized $6.4 million of
product cost of revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 driven by the sale of ANTHIM® to Canada.

Research and development expense. Research and development expenses increased approximately 24.8% to $16.6 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $13.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The components of R&D

expense are as follows, in millions:

For the Nine Month's Ended

September 30,
2023 2022

Programs
HS-110 $ 14 3 0.4
HS-130 — 0.7
PTX-35 1.3 1.8
Other programs 1.1 0.5
Unallocated research and development expenses 12.8 9.9
$ 16.6 $ 133

e HS-110 expense increased $1.0 million primarily due to site close out fees.

o HS-130 expense decreased to $0.0 from $0.7 million due to the de-prioritization of our oncology assets.

e PTX-35 expense was $1.3 million primarily consisting of the expensing of prepaid expenses associated with the discontinued
clinical trials and development of the product candidate in the third quarter of 2022.

e  Other programs expense increased by $0.6 million primarily due to a increase in close out costs of our R&D facility.

e Unallocated research expenses increased by $2.9 million primarily due to increased personnel costs, including stock-based
compensation from stock awards, and contractor expense.
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Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $19.6 million and $13.3 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase was primarily due to increases in personnel expenses of $1.8
million, marketing expenses of $1.9 million, professional expenses of $1.3 million, depreciation and amortization of $0.6 million, rent
expense of $0.6 million, and facility expense of $0.1 million.

Total non-operating loss. Total non-operating loss was $(0.2) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 which primarily
consisted of $0.1 million of unrealized gains on short-term investment balances, $0.5 million of interest income from interest and dividends
income on short-term investment balances, $(0.5) million of interest expense from finance liceases, and $(0.2) million loss on the disposal
of assets. Total non-operating loss was $(1.3) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 which primarily consisted of $(1.6)
million of unrealized losses on short-term investment balances off-set by $0.2 million from interest and dividends income on short-term
investment balances.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Sources of Liquidity

As of September 30, 2023, we had approximately $9.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, of which $3.3
million is in discontinued operations, which we believe is sufficient to fund our operations into Q1 2024. On September 18, 2023, our
Board approved the Plan described above and commenced the active marketing of Elusys with the intent of reducing our obligations.
Despite the cost savings measures and the cash received and to be received, management has determined that there is substantial doubt
about the Companys ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated financial statements are issued. We have
not yet generated significant revenue from operations and do not anticipate that we will generate sufficient revenue from operations in the
near term to sustain our operations and therefore we will need to raise capital to sustain our operations. As a result, management continues
to evaluate the Company’s future direction, including continuing to explore strategic alternatives and the active marketing of the divestiture
of Elusys. However, there can be no assurance that these strategic alternatives will be successful. If we do not raise capital or successfully
engage a strategic partner in the next few months, we may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of our operations, sell
some of our assets, cease operations, liquidate our assets or reorganize the Company, or a combination of the foregoing.

Since our inception in June 2008, we have incurred significant losses and we have financed our operations with net proceeds from the
private placement of our preferred stock, common stock and debt. Since our initial public offering, we have primarily financed our
operations with net proceeds from the public offering of our securities and at-the market offerings, and to a lesser extent, the proceeds from
the exercise of warrants. During May 2018, we closed a public offering of shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of
our common stock in which we received net proceeds of approximately $18.8 million and after the closing of the offering, an additional
$4.8 million from the exercise of 436,381 warrants issued in this offering. During November 2018, we closed a public offering of shares of
our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in which we received net proceeds of approximately $12.7
million. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, we received net proceeds of approximately $3.8 million from sales of our
common stock in at-the-market offerings. On January 21, 2020, we closed an underwritten public offering of shares of our common stock
and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to which we received net proceeds of approximately $6.4 million. During
the year ended December 31, 2021, we received net proceeds of $25.6 million from the sale of 2,106,027 shares of our common stock in at-
the-market offerings. As of September 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $249.0 million and as of December 31,
2022, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $209.2 million. We had net losses of $41.2 million and $28.5 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

We expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to our CDMO business. We will need to obtain substantial additional
future funding in connection with our our manufacturing facility operations.

However, the actual amount of funds we will need to operate is subject to many factors, some of which are beyond our control. These
factors include the following:

e the progress of our research activities;
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our ability to attract customers for our CDMO services;

the number and scope of our research programs;

the progress of our preclinical development activities;

the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we have entered into research and development agreements;
our expansion plans and cash needs of any new projects;

our ability to maintain current research and development licensing arrangements and to establish new research and development and
licensing arrangements;

the costs involved in prosecuting and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

the costs and timing of regulatory approvals;

the receipt of grant funding if any;

clinical laboratory development and testing; and

additional manufacturing facility construction costs and equipment costs.

We have based our estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong. We may need to obtain additional funds sooner or in greater
amounts than we currently anticipate. Potential sources of financing include strategic partners, public or private sales of our equity or debt
financings, mergers, a sale of our Company, divestiture of assets, a combination of these, or other strategic transactions. We may seek to
access the public or private equity markets when conditions are favorable due to our long-term capital requirements. We do not have any
committed sources of financing at this time, and it is uncertain whether additional funding will be available when we need it on terms that
will be acceptable to us, or at all. If we raise funds by selling additional shares of common stock, such as through the Amended and
Restated Common Stock Sales Agreement with B. Riley FBR, Inc., or other securities convertible into common stock, the ownership
interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we are not able to raise additional funds when needed or engage a strategic partner,
the Company may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of its operations and we may be forced to cease operations,
liquidate our assets, and possibly seek bankruptcy protection.

Elusys relies on Lonza, a third-party manufacturer, to produce our commercial quantities of our ANTHIM® bulk drug substance
requirements. Elusys has firm orders with Lonza for future purchases of drug substance, with remaining total non-cancellable future
commitments of approximately $53.0 million through 2025. As of September 30, 2023, we had approximately $9.5 million in cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments, which are expected to fund our operations into the first quarter of 2024. Management has
determined that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated financial
statements are issued.

Cash Flows

Operating activities. The use of cash during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 resulted primarily from our net losses
adjusted for non-cash charges and changes in components of working capital as well as the commencement of our Scorpius facility. Net
cash used in operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $30.5 million compared net cash provided by of
$2.1 million during the same period in 2022. The increased use was primarily due to an increase in net loss of $12.7 million, an increase in
depreciation of $3.7 million, an increase in goodwill impairment loss of $3.9 million, a decrease in intangible asset impairment loss of $1.2
million, a decrease in the change in fair value of contingent consideration of $3.2 million, a decrease in other assets of $12.7 million, a
decrease in contract receivables of $24.5 million, a decrease in inventory of $5.8 million, an increase in right-of-use assets of $10.0 million,
a decrease in accounts payable of $3.1 million, an increase in deferred revenue of $1.8 million and an increase in accrued expenses and
other liabilities of $1.8 million.

Investing activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $30.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to $3.6 million during the same period in 2022. The difference is primarily due the decreased sale of short term investments of
$32.2 million offset by the increase in purchases of property and equipment of $1.9 million.

Financing activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $2.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to a

use of $0.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The difference was due to a $2.6 million net increase in repayments
of principal under finance leases.
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Current and Future Financing Needs

We have incurred an accumulated deficit of $249.0 million through September 30, 2023. We have incurred negative cash flows from
operations since we started our business. We expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to our manufacturing facility
operations for Scorpius.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information required
under this item.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision of and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Disclosure controls and procedures are those controls
and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act filings is (1)
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2023, our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective because of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that were
reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. The material weaknesses are further described
below.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

o  We identified ineffective information technology general controls in the areas of user access and segregation of duties related to
certain information technology systems that support our financial reporting process. As a result, certain activity level controls were
also deemed to be ineffective that are dependent on information derived from these information technology systems.

e In March 2023, we determined that we had made certain errors in the manner in which we recognized the deferred tax asset
valuation allowance related to the acquisition of Elusys, with the result that net loss had been overstated in our quarterly filings for
the periods ending June 30, 2022 through September 30, 2022. As a result, we determined that there were material errors in the
financial statements that required a restatement of our Forms 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended June 30, 2022 through September
30, 2022. This was due to the inadequate design and implementation of controls to evaluate and monitor the accounting for income
taxes.

e We identified a material weakness related to the ineffective design of certain management review controls across a significant
portion of our financial statement areas, particularly with regard to the precision of the review and evidence of review procedures

performed.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses
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We are committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and implementing measures designed to help ensure that these
material weaknesses are remediated as soon as possible. We believe we have made progress towards remediation and continue to implement
our remediation plan for the current material weakness in internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, we have identified the
following practices and/or procedures to remediate the material weaknesses: (i) evaluating and implementing enhanced process controls
around user access management and segregation of duties, (ii) expanding the documentation over user access and system controls and
enhancing the level of evidence maintained in management review controls and (iii) enhancing the design of existing controls and are
implementing new controls over the accounting, processing, and recording of income tax.

We will consider the material weaknesses remediated after the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time, and management
has concluded, through testing, that the controls are operating effectively.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2023, other than the plan discussed above under “Remediation of Material Weaknesses”,
there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We
are not presently a party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks, together with all the other
information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. If any of
the following risks actually materialize, our operating results, financial condition and liquidity could be materially adversely affected. The
following information updates should be read in conjunction with the information disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” contained
in our 2022 Annual Report. Except as disclosed below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors and uncertainties
disclosed in our 2022 Annual Report.

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern

We had an accumulated deficit of $249.0 million as of September 30, 2023 and a net loss of approximately $41.2 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023. We have an accumulated deficit of $209.2 million as of December 31, 2022 and a net loss of
approximately $43.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and have not generated significant revenue or positive cash flows from
operations. We expect to incur significant expenses and continued losses from operations for the foreseeable future and expect our cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments to be sufficient to fund our operations into Q1 2024. We expect our expenses to increase in
connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we ramp up operations in our in-house bioanalytic, process development and
manufacturing facility in San Antonio, TX, and expand our infectious disease/biological threat program. Our audited financial statements
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 were prepared under the assumption that we will continue as a going concern; however, we
have incurred significant losses from operations to date and we expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities.
These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the financial statements are issued.
Our auditors also included an explanatory paragraph in their report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2022 with respect to this uncertainty. There can be no assurance that funding will be available on acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at
all. The various ways that we could
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raise capital carry potential risks. Any additional sources of financing will likely involve the issuance of our equity securities, which will
have a dilutive effect on our stockholders. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that may impact our ability to
conduct our business. If we raise funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements, we might be required to relinquish significant
rights to our technologies or tests or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we do not succeed in raising additional funds on
acceptable terms or at all, we may be unable to complete the planned build out of our Kansas facility or develop any new product
candidates that we acquire. As such, we cannot conclude that such plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date that
the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report are filed with the SEC and there is uncertainty regarding our ability to maintain
liquidity sufficient to operate our business effectively, which raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

We continue to evaluate strategic alternatives due to our cash runway and there can be no assurance that any strategic alternative will
be successful.

As of September 30, 2023, we had approximately $9.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, which we believe is
sufficient to fund our operations into Q1 2024. Management has determined that there is substantial doubt about the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated financial statements are issued. We have not yet generated significant
revenue from operations and do not anticipate that we will generate sufficient revenue from operations in the near term to sustain our
operations and therefore we will need to raise capital to sustain our operations. As a result, management continues to evaluate the
Company’s future direction, including continuing to explore strategic alternatives and the divestiture of Elusys. However, there can be no
assurance that these strategic alternatives will be successful. If we are unable to divest Elusys, additional capital will be required to pay the
Elusys obligations. If we do not raise capital or successfully engage a strategic partner in the next few months, we may be required to delay,
reduce, or terminate some or all of our operations, sell some of our assets, cease operations, liquidate our assets or reorganize the Company,
or a combination of the foregoing.

We have incurred net losses every year since our inception and expect to continue to generate operating losses and experience negative
cash flows and it is uncertain whether we will achieve profitability.

We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception, including net losses of $41.2 million and $28.5 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of $249.0 million as of September 30, 2023. For the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we incurred a net loss of $43.9 million and $35.4 million, respectively. We expect to continue to
incur operating losses until such time, if ever, as we are able to achieve sufficient levels of revenue from operations. As stated above, we do
not anticipate generating significant revenue from sales of our products for several years or from our manufacturing facility until such time
as it is fully operational and operating at full capacity. Our ability to achieve profitability will depend on market acceptance of our product
offerings and services and our capacity to develop, introduce and sell our products and services to our targeted markets. Furthermore, there
can be no assurance that we generate sufficient revenue from manufacturing services to support the expenses anticipated to be incurred by
the manufacturing facility. Accordingly, the extent of future losses and the time required to achieve profitability, if ever, cannot be

predicted at this point.

Even if we succeed in generating revenue as a CDMO, we expect to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future and may never
become profitable. We also expect to continue to incur significant operating expenses and anticipate that our expenses will increase
substantially in the foreseeable future as we:

generate and increase third-party client sales and realized revenue at our CDMO;

continue to undertake preclinical development and conduct clinical trials for product candidates;

seek regulatory approvals for product candidates;

implement additional internal systems and infrastructure;

devote resources to constructing a facility for the development of bioanalytics, process development and manufacturing
activities; and

e  hire additional personnel.
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We also expect to experience negative cash flows for the foreseeable future as we fund our operating losses. As a result, we will need to
generate significant revenues or raise additional financing in order to achieve and maintain profitability. We may not be able to generate
these revenues or achieve profitability in the future. Our failure to achieve or maintain profitability would likely negatively impact the value
of our securities and financing activities.

We will need to raise additional capital to support our long-term business plans and our failure to obtain funding when needed may
force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our devel, ent programs or commercialization efforts.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, our operating activities used net cash of approximately $30.5 million and as of
September 30, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were approximately $9.5 million. During the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, our operating activities used net cash of approximately $5.7 million and $38.1 million, respectively. We
expect to incur additional operating losses in the future and therefore expect our cumulative losses to increase. We do not expect to derive
significant revenue from our CDMO services or any of our product candidates currently in development in the near future until we or our
potential partners successfully commercialize our products. In addition, we expect our expenses to increase due to the operation of the
manufacturing facility in San Antonio. If we should move forward with the build out and purchase of equipment for the manufacturing
facility in Kansas, we will incur significant expenses.

We will need to raise additional capital to fund our long-term operations and we cannot be certain that funding will be available to us on
acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all. To meet our financing needs, we are considering multiple alternatives, including, but not
limited to, additional equity financings, which we expect will include sales of common stock through at the market issuances, debt
financings and/or funding from partnerships or collaborations. Our ability to raise capital through the sale of securities may be limited by
our number of authorized shares of common stock and various rules of the SEC and the NYSE American that place limits on the number
and dollar amount of securities that we may sell. Any additional sources of financing will likely involve the issuance of our equity or debt
securities, which will have a dilutive effect on our stockholders, assuming we are able to sufficiently increase our authorized number of
shares of common stock. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience
significant dilution. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that may impact our ability to conduct our business.
If we fail to raise additional funds on acceptable terms, we may be unable to continue our CDMO operations or continue to maintain our
listing on the NYSE American. In addition, we could be forced to delay, discontinue or curtail product development, forego sales and
marketing efforts, and forego licensing in attractive business opportunities. Any additional sources of financing will likely involve the
issuance of our equity or debt securities, which will have a dilutive effect on our stockholders.

QOur business is now concentrated in one industry segment, the CDMO business.

Our business operations are now concentrated in one business segment, the CDMO business. To date, we have not generated significant
revenue from the CDMO business and there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future. We are continually promoting
our technologies and CDMO capabilities to further expand and grow our revenue base.

If revenue from a third-party customer or client is concentrated in an amount that makes up a significant percentage of our total revenues,
we may be adversely impacted by the significant dependence upon that client, including but not limited to, receipt and collections of
outstanding amounts, continued operational allocations toward the client and related efficiencies, capacity and opportunity costs.

At this time, we are continually promoting our technologies and CDMO capabilities to further expand and grow our revenue base and
business. We will continue to consider any potential revenue and client related concentration risks. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, two customers accounted for all of our process development revenue. Although we expect our revenues to increase
and further vary by client over the next twelve months, there are no guarantees we will be correct in our assumptions.
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Future sales of our common stock by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

On November 20, 2023, there were 26,081,890 shares of our common stock outstanding, all of which are currently eligible for sale in the
public market, subject, in certain circumstances to the volume, manner of sale and other limitations under Rule 144 promulgated under the
Securities Act. It is conceivable that stockholders may wish to sell some or all of their shares. If our stockholders sell substantial amounts of
our common stock in the public market at the same time, the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly due to an
imbalance in the supply and demand of our common stock. Even if they do not actually sell the stock, the perception in the public market
that our stockholders might sell significant shares of our common stock could also depress the market price of our common stock.

A decline in the price of shares of our common stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of

our common stock or other equity securities, and may cause stockholders to lose part or all of their investment in our shares of common
stock.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

There were no sales of unregistered securities during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 that were not previously disclosed.
ITEM3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not Applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not Applicable.

ITEMS5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index. The Exhibit Index is incorporated herein
by reference.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics. Inc. dated as of March 20, 2013
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 6, 2013 (File No. 333-188365)).

32 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of May 29, 2013 filed on May 30. 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1/A with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 30, 2013 (File No. 333-188365)).

33 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of July 13, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 17, 2017 (File No. 001-35994)).

34 Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated

as of January 18. 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2018 (File No. 001-35994)).
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Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of March 20, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8 K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 23. 2020 (File No. 001-35994)).

Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of December 11, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 10. 2020 (File No. 001-35994)).

Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of April 28, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 3, 2022 (File No. 001-35994)).

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated May 3., 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 3. 2022 (File No. 001-35994)).
Certification of Jeffrey Wolf, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a 14(a) orl5d 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of William Ostrander, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a
14(a) or15d 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
0f 2002.

Certification of Jeffrey Wolf, Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of William Ostrander. Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained
in Exhibits 101).

*  Filed
herewith.

41



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020000232/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020000232/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020001092/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020001092/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z2.htm

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NIGHTHAWK BIOSCIENCES, INC.

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Wolf

Jeffrey A. Wolf
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ William Ostrander

William Ostrander
Chief Financial Olfficer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Olfficer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Wolf, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NightHawk Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey Wolf

Name: Jeffrey Wolf
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Ostrander, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of NightHawk Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ William Ostrander

Name: William Ostrander
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Wolf, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023 (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company for the periods presented.

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ Jeffrey Wolf

Name: Jeffrey Wolf
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Ostrander, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) of NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. (the
“Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best
of my knowledge:

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023 (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company for the periods presented.

Date: November 20, 2023 By: /s/ William Ostrander
Name: William Ostrander
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)




